IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

2008-KA-01755-C0A

CALVIN BASKIN

APPELLANT

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF CHICKASAW COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

ROBERT SNEED LAHER, ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

LAHER LAW FIRM 207 WEST MAIN STREET TUPELO, MISSISSIPPI 38801 (662) 841-0391; FAX (662) 841-8662

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

2008-KA-01755-C0A

CALVIN BASKIN

APPELLANT

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF CHICKASAW COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

COMES NOW, the Appellant, Calvin Baskin, by and through counsel, Robert Sneed Laher, and requests the Court to review the following issues:

- 1. The trial court erred in denying Appellant Calvin Baskin's oral Motion to Dismiss based upon insufficient evidence as the State lacked any proof that Calvin Baskin sold cocaine to William Pickens, the confidential informant, as alleged in the indictment.
- 2. The trial court erred in denying Appellant Calvin Baskin's oral Motion to Suppress the use of certain video/audio evidence as same was highly prejudicial to Appellant Calvin Baskin's defense because he was not afforded the opportunity to cross-examine Kobrin Pickens, a known drug dealer who was the intended subject of the surveillance video tape, due to Kobrin's unavailability at Baskin's trial.
- 3. The trial court erred in denying Appellant Calvin Baskin's Motion for a Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, or alternatively, for a New Trial due to the lack of proof that Baskin sold a controlled substance as alleged in the indictment against him.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

(I) Course of the proceedings and disposition in the Court below:

Defendant Calvin Baskin was found guilty of the sale of a controlled substance, namely cocaine, in violation of Miss. Code Ann. §41-29-139 on June 30, 2008, following a two-day jury trial in Chickasaw County, Mississippi. (RE 10-12, CP 39-41). Thereafter, on August 6, 2008, counsel for Defendant filed a Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, or alternatively, for a New Trial in the Circuit Court of Chickasaw County, Mississippi. (RE 13-15, CP 44-46). It is from the denial of this Motion that Defendant Baskin appeals.

(II) Statement of the Facts:

On February 21, 2008, Defendant Calvin Baskin and Kobrin Pickens were indicted for the Sale of a Controlled Substance (cocaine) in Count I of a three count indictment which also included two other charges against Pickens only for the sale of a controlled substance. (RE 5-6, CP 1-2). The indictment included an allegation that on November 15, 2007, Defendant Calvin Baskin and Kobrin Pickens sold cocaine to a confidential informant in exchange for \$50.00. (RE 5-6, CP 1-2). A capias bond was issued and Defendant Calvin Baskin was arrested on March 12, 2008, and later released on bond. (RE 7, CP 3). Baskin waived arraignment and entered a plea of not guilty on April 14, 2008. (RE 8, CP 7). On July 29, 2008, the trial court entered an Order Severing Defendants as the co-defendant, Kobrin Pickens, had not been served with an indictment and law enforcement had been unable to determine Pickens' whereabouts. (RE 9, CP 22). The matter proceeded to trial on July 29, 2008, and concluded on July 30, 2008, resulting in a guilty verdict being rendered against Baskin. Baskin was sentenced to 20 years in prison, with 5 of those years suspended if Baskin maintains good behavior, as well as long-term participation in an alcohol and drug program, completion of his GED and fines and costs. (RE 10-12, CP 39-41).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The judgment of the trial court should be reversed and a new trial granted to Appellant Calvin Baskin for several reasons, the most important of which is that there was simply no evidence that Baskin was guilty of anything other than being an addict. Baskin's own testimony included an admission was that he has been a drug addict for approximately twenty years, that he had two previous unsuccessful attempts at rehab and that he was high on powder cocaine on the day of the alleged sale of the controlled substance. (RE 36, 39, 40; T 173, 176, 182). Two of the State's witnesses at trial testified that Kobrin Pickens, a known drug dealer, and *not* Calvin Baskin, was the subject of the investigation that resulted in the charges against Pickens and Appellant Baskin¹. (RE 24, T 106; RE 26, T 137). The trial court erred in denying Appellant Calvin Baskin's oral Motion to Dismiss based upon insufficient evidence as the State lacked any proof that Calvin Baskin sold cocaine to William Pickens, the confidential informant, as alleged in the indictment.

The State's submission of a surveillance video tape into evidence was highly prejudicial to Baskin's defense, primarily because Kobrin Pickens, the individual who was indicted along with Baskin but who was later severed from Baskin's trial because he jumped bail and fled from authorities, was unavailable for cross-examination regarding his statements made on the surveillance tape that was used to implicate Baskin in the criminal activity. Portions of the tape were shown repeatedly throughout the trial, despite objections by defense counsel related to hearsay and the inability to cross-examine the intended subject of the surveillance, Kobrin Pickens. (RE 21-23, T 103-105). Not only was the surveillance video tape erroneously allowed

3

¹ The only other witness for the State, crime lab employee Alisha Waldrop, was excused from any substantive testimony since defense counsel stipulated to the amount of cocaine admitted into evidence.

into evidence due to the Appellant's inability to cross-examine Kobrin Pickens, but the tape should have also been suppressed due to the one-sidedness of the contents. Several phone calls were made by Kobrin Pickens throughout the over-50 minutes of video and only the voice of Kobrin Pickens was audible on the tape during the calls. (RE 30-32, T 148-150). The video was obviously submitted into evidence to imply to the jury that Calvin Baskin was setting up the sale of cocaine when there is no proof that is what actually happened.

The trial court erred in denying Appellant Calvin Baskin's Motion for a Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, or alternatively, for a New Trial due to the overwhelming lack of proof that Baskin sold a controlled substance as alleged in the indictment against him. At the conclusion of the trial, despite the existence of a reasonable doubt regarding Calvin Baskin's participation in the sale of a controlled substance, the jury found him guilty. This verdict was against the weight and sufficiency of the evidence and was erroneously reached due to the undisputed testimony that Calvin Baskin did not hand any cocaine to William Pickens, the confidential informant, or to Kobrin Pickens, the co-defendant whose case was severed due to his hiding from law enforcement subsequent to his indictment. (RE 25, T 111; RE 33, T 155).

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT CALVIN BASKIN'S ORAL MOTION TO DISMISS BASED UPON INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE.

The trial court erred in denying Appellant Calvin Baskin's Motion to Dismiss based upon insufficient evidence that was made by defense counsel orally at trial because the State lacked any proof that Calvin Baskin sold cocaine to William Pickens, the confidential informant, as alleged in the indictment. The only thing Calvin Baskin is guilty of is being a drug addict. By his

own admission, Baskin has been hooked on drugs for over 20 years and has paid for rehabilitation programs for himself on two different occasions. Despite his horrible drug addiction, Baskin was surprisingly high functioning and was not an entirely unproductive member of society. He has consistently worked to earn a living since he was 17 years old, most recently for Navistar in West Point, Mississippi, manufacturing military vehicles for the United States armed forces. (RE 34-35, T 171-172). Baskin testified that he has three children and pays child support for each child. He has been married to his current wife for nine years. Although money has been tight, he has never sold drugs and has always worked to pay for the drugs to which he is sadly addicted.

The confidential informant for the subject investigation, William Pickens, testified that he had lived in Chickasaw County, Mississippi all of his life and had participated in many undercover buys, perhaps more than 40 within a year's time, and that Appellant Baskin was not known to be a drug dealer. (RE 27-29, T 145-147). Officer Michael Fowler testified that as far as he knew, Appellant Calvin Baskin had never been the subject of an investigation in Chickasaw County. (RE 25, T 113). Unfortunately, the real drug dealer in this case, Kobrin Pickens, remains at large while Appellant Calvin Baskin is serving a 20 year sentence for a crime he did not commit. Two of the State's witnesses at trial testified that Kobrin Pickens, a known drug dealer, and *not* Calvin Baskin, was the subject of the investigation that resulted in the charges against Pickens and Appellant Baskin. (RE 24, T 106; RE 26, T 137).

Admittedly, Calvin Baskin was as high as a kite on November 15, 2007, when Kobrin Pickens came to Baskin's home along with Confidential Informant William Pickens (and an unidentified female who remained in the vehicle), and because of his incoherent state of mind, Baskin's recollection of the day's events is not very clear. Similarly, the activity that is depicted

on the surveillance tape is not very clear. It is undisputed that there are portions of the surveillance tape where Calvin Baskin is not heard or seen, and the same is true for Kobrin Pickens during the time that his back was to the camera as he entered Baskin's home and again when Kobrin Pickens and Baskin were alone in the home without William Pickens, the confidential informant, and his hidden video wire. As such, the jury was erroneous in reaching the verdict that Calvin Baskin was guilty of selling cocaine to William Pickens because neither the State's witness testimony nor the video surveillance tape shows proof of this. While Baskin does not deny that Kobrin Pickens came to Baskin's home on November 15, 2007, and that he gave Kobrin \$50.00, Baskin did not sell drugs to Kobrin Pickens. The bottom line is that the video surveillance tape depicts an interaction between Baskin and Kobrin Pickens that could have multiple explanations. The conversation that was not recorded or witnessed by anyone other than the participants, Kobrin Pickens and Calvin Baskin, was explained by the only witness present at trial, Calvin Baskin. Baskin testified that he believes Kobrin Pickens came to Baskin's house on the day in question because Pickens believed Baskin was high, which he was, and he wanted to borrow \$50.00 so he could complete a sale to William Pickens. (RE 37-38, T 174-175).

Baskin's testimony was that he did not provide the drugs that were sold to William Pickens by Kobrin Pickens. (RE 38, T 175). The only thing Baskin did was loan \$50.00 to Kobrin Pickens. The action of making a loan does not a criminal make. To aid and abet the commission of a felony, one must "'do something that will incite, encourage, or assist the actual perpetrator in the commission of the crime. . . . [or] participate[] in the design of the felony." *Vaughn v. State*, 712 So. 2d 721, 724 (Miss. 1998) (*quoting Malone v. State*, 486 So. 2d 360, 363-64 (Miss. 1986)). Criminal law does not recognize guilt by association. *Davis v. State*, 586 So. 2d 817, 821 (Miss. 1991) (*citing Pryor v. State*, 239 So. 2d 911, 912 (Miss. 1970)).

Mere presence, even with the intent of assisting in the crime, is insufficient "unless the intention to assist was in some way communicated to [the principal]." *Crawford v. State*, 133 Miss. 147, 151 (1923). There is no proof that Baskin communicated an intention to assist to Kobrin Pickens in this case. Furthermore, "[p]roof that one has stood by at the commission of a crime without taking any steps to prevent it does not alone indicate such participation or combination in the wrong done as to show criminal liability, although he approve of the act." *Harper v. State*, 83 Miss. 402, 415, 35 So. 572, 573 (1903) (citations omitted). Certainly, Kobrin Pickens' mere presence at Baskin's home is insufficient to establish that Appellant Calvin Baskin is guilty beyond a reasonable doubt of the sale of a controlled substance. Again, Baskin's act of loaning \$50.00 to Pickens, even if Baskin knew it was for Pickens to make change for the purchaser of illegal drugs, does not constitute a criminal action on the part of Baskin.

In this case, Baskin's conviction hinges on tenuous evidence and virtually no direct evidence. Although William Pickens testifies that Baskin sold him crack cocaine, he was unable to state whether Kobrin Pickens or the unidentified female in the vehicle that day had any crack cocaine in their possession and admittedly only saw Kobrin Pickens handle the crack cocaine and not Appellant Baskin. Because of this lack of proof and the existence of reasonable doubt, Appellant Baskin submits that if his conviction is allowed to stand, an unconscionable injustice will be committed. *Dilworth v. State*, 909 So. 2d 731, 737-38 (¶21-23) (Miss. 2005).

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT CALVIN BASKIN'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS THE USE OF CERTAIN VIDEO/AUDIO EVIDENCE.

The trial court erroneously denied Appellant Calvin Baskin's Motion to Suppress the use

of certain video/audio evidence made orally by defense counsel at trial. The video surveillance tape was highly prejudicial to Appellant Calvin Baskin's defense for two reasons. First, because he was not afforded the opportunity to cross-examine Kobrin Pickens, a known drug dealer who was the intended subject of the surveillance video tape due to Kobrin's unavailability at Baskin's trial. And second, the video surveillance tape gave an incomplete picture of the events of November 15, 2007. Several phone calls were made by Kobrin Pickens throughout the over-50 minutes of video and only the voice of Kobrin Pickens was audible on the tape. (RE 30-32, T 148-150). There are portions of the surveillance tape where Calvin Baskin can not be heard or seen, and the same is true for Kobrin Pickens. Specifically, during the time that Kobrin Pickens' back was to the camera as he entered Baskin's home and later when Kobrin Pickens and Baskin were alone in the home without William Pickens' hidden surveillance wire.

This case can be likened to the facts presented in n Clark v. State, 891 So.2d 136 (Miss. 2003) where the defendant's accomplice gave a testimonial statement to law enforcement officers but refused to testify at trial; therefore, the trial court allowed the statement to be read into the record over the defense's objection. Clark, 891 So. 2d at 138 (¶¶ 4, 6). The Mississippi Supreme Court held that since Clark was not afforded the opportunity to cross-examine this adverse witness, his right to confront the witness was violated pursuant to Crawford v. Washington, 124 S. Ct. 1354, 1374, 158 L. Ed. 2d 177 (2004). Certainly, the interests of Kobrin Pickens are adverse to those of Calvin Baskin as it is undisputed that Kobrin Pickens was the subject of the investigation where William Pickens was wearing a wire in an attempt to gather evidence of Kobrin Pickens' drug dealing activities. As such, Calvin Baskin was denied his right to cross-examine Kobrin Pickens, to solicit testimony regarding the interaction between Baskin, Kobrin

Pickens and William Pickens on the day in question. Furthermore, in White v. State, 785 So. 2d 1059 (Miss. 2001), the Mississippi Supreme Court held that to deny the accused the right to explore fully the credibility of a witness testifying against him, is to deny him the Constitutional right of a full confrontation. Id. at 1063 (¶12). Appellant Baskin was not given the right of a full confrontation because of the unavailability of Kobrin Pickens at the trial of this matter. Thus, Appellant Baskin submits that the trial court, knowing full well that Kobrin Pickens was unavailable for trial, erroneously allowed the video surveillance tape into evidence over the objection of defense counsel. Baskin testified that he believes Kobrin Pickens came to Baskin's house on the day in question because Pickens believed Baskin was high, which he was, and that Pickens wanted to borrow \$50.00 so he could complete a sale to William Pickens. (RE 37-38, T 174-175). This is not an unreasonable hypothesis when you consider that Kobrin Pickens was a drug dealer who had been to Calvin Baskin's house many times to sell and use drugs. Kobrin Pickens could tell by Baskin's voice that Baskin was high and Kobrin Pickens perhaps wanted to get high with Calvin Baskin, or take advantage of his current state of mind by "borrowing" \$50.00 from Baskin with no intention of repaying the loan. (RE 37, T 174). This hypothesis is not only unreasonable, but it creates reasonable doubt regarding Baskin's guilt in this matter. The unfortunate fact is, Appellant Baskin did not get the opportunity to cross-examine Kobrin Pickens to determine what he intended to do when he came to Baskin's house that day or what actually transpired outside of Baskin's presence upon Kobrin Pickens' arrival with William Pickens and the female companion. In allowing the jury to consider the video surveillance tape they were only told part of the story. Certainly, Calvin Baskin testified to his knowledge of what transpired at his house, but he had no knowledge of anything that transpired on that day outside

of his presence. Cross-examination of Kobrin Pickens would have been the only other method for attempting to uncover the truth of that matter.

Not only did the submission into evidence of the video surveillance tape deny Baskin his right to full confrontation, but also the surveillance tape constituted inadmissible hearsay to which defense counsel strenuously objected. As this Court is well aware, hearsay is an out-ofcourt statement offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted, M.R.E. 801(c). It is always inadmissible except as provided by law, M.R.E. 802, "The rule of non-hearsay imports an objective test. The question is not the actual subjective state of mind of the prosecuting attorney, much less of the declarant, but rather a matter of how a reasonable objective observer would under the circumstances be likely to perceive the statement." Harrison v. State, 722 So.2d 681, 684(¶8) (Miss. 1998) (quoting *Turner v. State*, 573 So.2d 1335, 1338 (Miss. 1990)). Considering the taped conversations objectively in light of all the other evidence, the most powerful evidentiary function of the taped conversations was to relay hearsay evidence to the jury tending to show Baskin's knowledge and willing participation in the sale of drugs by Kobrin Pickens to the confidential informant—to portray Baskin as an accomplice acting affirmatively to complete the sale of cocaine by doing more than merely opening the door for Kobrin Pickens and letting him borrow \$50.00. The video tape was full of hearsay and the only reasonable objective was to fill in all the blanks that the incoherent state of Calvin Baskin on the day of the sale and the unavailability of Kobrin Pickens created at trial.

III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY DENIED APPELLANT CALVIN BASKIN'S MOTION FOR A JUDGMENT NOTHWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT, OR ALTERNATIVELY, FOR A NEW TRIAL.

The trial court erred in denying Appellant Calvin Baskin's Motion for a Judgment

Notwithstanding the Verdict, or alternatively, for a New Trial due to the overwhelming lack of proof that Baskin sold a controlled substance as alleged in the indictment against him. At the conclusion of the trial, despite the existence of reasonable doubt regarding Calvin Baskin's participation in the sale of a controlled substance, the jury found him guilty. This verdict was erroneously reached due to the undisputed testimony that Calvin Baskin did not hand any cocaine to William Pickens, the confidential informant, or to Kobrin Pickens, the co-defendant whose case was severed due to his hiding from law enforcement subsequent to his indictment. (RE 25, T 111; RE 33, T 155). As this Court is well aware, when reviewing a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, this Court will reverse and render only if the facts and inferences "'point in favor of the defendant on any element of the offense with sufficient force that reasonable men could not have found beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was guilty,'... .. " Brown v. State, 965 So. 2d 1023, 1030 (Miss. 2007) (quoting Bush v. State, 895 So. 2d 836, 843 (Miss. 2005)). Comparatively, when reviewing a challenge to the weight of the evidence, this Court will overturn a jury verdict "only when it is so contrary to the evidence presented that to let it stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice." Wilson v. State, 936 So. 2d 357, 363 (Miss. 2006) (citing Bush, 895 So. 2d at 845). Appellant Baskin understands and acknowledges that a new trial should be granted on the basis of the weight of the evidence "only in exceptional circumstances, when the evidence weighs heavily against the jury's verdict." Wilson, 936 So. 2d at 363 (citing Bush, 895 So. 2d at 845). However, as is the situation here, in considering whether the evidence is legally sufficient to sustain a conviction in the face of a motion for [a] JNOV, the inquiry is "whether the evidence shows 'beyond a reasonable doubt that [the] accused committed the act charged, and that he did so under such circumstances that every element of the offense existed." Id. at 843 (\$16) (quoting Carr v. State, 208 So. 2d 886, 889 (Miss. 1968)). The critical

question in dealing with such an issue is whether," after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *Id.* The evidence will be deemed sufficient if the evidence against the defendant is such that "reasonable fair-minded men in the exercise of impartial judgment might reach different conclusions on every element of the offense." *Dixon v. State*, 953 So. 2d 1117, 1121 (¶13) (Miss. Ct. App. 2006).

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