#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**CALVIN BASKIN** 

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-1755-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

#### **BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE**

### APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LA DONNA HOLLAND
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

##

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The State presented legally sufficient evidence to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Baskin sold the C.I. the crack cocaine that was sitting on Baskin's kitchen counter. Alternatively, even if the jury had not found that Baskin independently sold the drugs, they very well could have found Baskin guilty of aiding and abetting Korbin in the sale of crack cocaine.

The jury's verdict is not against the weight of the evidence. The jury was presented with William's testimony and video evidence which showed that Baskin sold William crack cocaine. The jury was also presented with Baskin's illogical version of events, that is, Korbin initially pretended that he had no crack to sell, then drove to Baskin's house to sell William crack and borrow \$50 from Baskin. The duty of assessing witness credibility and resolving conflicts in the evidence lies within the sole province of the jury. The jury faithfully carried out this exclusive duty, and found that the State's witnesses were more credible than Baskin.

The video of the transaction and the events leading up to the transaction contained no testimonial hearsay. As such, Baskin was not denied his constitutional right to cross-examine Korbin.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# I. BASKIN'S MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT AT THE CLOSE OF THE STATE'S CASE WAS PROPERLY DENIED.

At the close of the State's case, defense counsel moved for a directed verdict, arguing that the State had only shown that the transaction occurred in Baskin's home. T. 166-68. Defense counsel further argued that there was no proof that Baskin hand delivered the drugs to the C.I., or that Baskin made any money from the transaction. T. 166-68. Defense counsel admitted during the oral motion that the jury could infer from the evidence that Baskin gave the drugs to Korbin to sell the C.I., and further acknowledged that the video showed Baskin giving the C.I. \$50 in change, but claimed that there were numerous explanations for that portion of the transaction. T. 167-68. The trial court denied the motion, stating the following.

Court's of the opinion that a prima facie case has been made; that it's a question for the jury; that since the transaction occurred in Mr. Baskin's presence, since the testimony is that it was on the counter of Mr. Baskin's home, and the testimony shows that Mr. Baskin made change for the hundred dollars, it's a question for the jury and then motion is overruled.

#### T. 168.

"Motions to dismiss, motions for JNOV, and motions for directed verdict all challenge the legal sufficiency of the evidence." *Thames v. State*, 5 So.3d 1178, 1188-89 (¶32) (Miss. Ct. App. 2009) (quoting Wright v. State, 958 So.2d 158, 168(¶27) (Miss.2007)). In determining whether the State presented legally sufficient evidence to support a jury's verdict, all evidence supporting the guilty verdict must be accepted as true. *Wash v. State*, 931 So.2d 672, 673 (¶5) (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). Additionally, the State is given the benefit of all inferences which may reasonably be drawn from the evidence. *Id.* A reviewing court does not ask whether it believes that the State proved each element of the offense charged beyond a reasonable doubt. *Bush v. State*, 895 So. 2d 836, 843 (¶16)

(Miss. 2005). Instead, the relevant inquiry is whether any rational juror could so find. *Id.* 

William testified that Baskin sold him the \$50 worth of crack cocaine. T. 138. William testified that when he walked in to Baskin's house, the crack was already packaged and sitting on Baskin's kitchen counter. T. 143. After William took the crack, Baskin went and made change, bringing William back \$50. T. 138. Even the uncorroborated testimony of a single witness is legally sufficient to support a jury's verdict. *Cousar v. State*, 855 So.2d 993, 998-99 (¶16) (Miss. 2003). Not only was William an eyewitness to the sale of cocaine, but also his testimony was corroborated by video evidence which was played for the jury. On the video, the jury heard William, outside the presence of Korbin, call Agent Fowler and tell him that Korbin was taking him to buy some crack. Exhibit 1 at approximately 11:15. Later in the video, after arriving at Baskin's house, the video shows Baskin introducing himself to William as "Skip." Exhibit 1 at approx. 42:48. The video then shows William picking up the crack cocaine from the kitchen counter saying, "Yeah, it's straight." Exhibit 1 at 43:00. Finally, the video shows Baskin bringing William his change as William tells Baskin, "Appreciate it man." Exhibit 1 at 43:30.

Baskin argues on appeal that neither William's testimony nor the video evidence proves that he sold the drugs. Baskin claims that it was actually Korbin who sold the drugs. A similar argument was made in *Miller v. State*, 980 So.2d 927, 930 (¶12) (Miss. 2008). In *Miller*, when a C.I. went to Miller's house for a controlled buy, the C.I. retrieved the crack which was sitting on a table, and Miller gave the C.I. his change. *Id.* at 928(¶5). On appeal Miller argued that the video evidence did not show a hand-to-hand transaction, and that someone else in the house could have sold the C.I. the drugs. *Id.* at 927 (¶12). The supreme court held that the jury was entitled to draw reasonable inferences from the evidence, and that it was reasonable for the jury to infer that Miller sold the drugs by placing them on the table because the evidence showed that the C.I. walked into Miller's

home with \$40 and walked out with crack cocaine and \$10 change that Miller had given him. *Id*. Likewise in the present case, when the State is given the benefit of all reasonable inferences which may be drawn from the evidence, it is clear that a reasonable juror could find that the State proved beyond a reasonable doubt that Baskin sold William the crack.

Additionally, the supreme court held in *Spann v. State*, "To prove sale of a controlled substance, the State need not prove that the defendant personally placed the substance in the hands of the buyer or that the defendant personally profited from its sale." 970 So. 2d 135, 137-38 (¶9). In *Spann*, as in the present case, the defendant was given an aiding and abetting instruction. Even if the jury had believed Baskin's outlandish story that Korbin drove to Baskin's house to sell the drugs and borrow \$50 to make change for the transaction, while at the same time tricking the C.I. into thinking that Baskin was selling the drugs, the jury still could have found Baskin guilty of aiding and abetting or acting in concert with Korbin to sell the drugs. At the very least, Baskin provided the location for the sale and controlled the financial aspect the sale, making him guilty of aiding in the sale of a controlled substance.

Under either theory, the State presented legally sufficient evidence to support the jury's verdict.

# II. THE STATE PRESENTED LEGALLY SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE JURY'S VERDICT WHICH WAS NOT AGAINST THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

Both a motion to dismiss the indictment due to alleged insufficient evidence and motion for JNOV attack the legal sufficiency of the evidence. *Thames v. State*, 5 So.3d 1178, 1188-89 (¶32) (Miss. Ct. App. 2009). The State has already shown under the first issue that at the close of the State's case, legally sufficient evidence had been presented to support the jury's verdict.

Reviewing courts examine the evidence in the light most favorable to the verdict in determining whether a verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. *Bush v. State*, 895 So.2d 836, 844 (¶18) (Miss. 2005) (citing *Herring v. State*, 691 So.2d 948, 957 (Miss.1997)). Determination of witness credibility lies within the sole province of the jury. *Moore v. State*, 969 So.2d 153, 156 (¶11) (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). The jury is also responsible for resolving any conflicts in witnesses' testimony which may arise. *Id*.

Baskin's weight of the evidence argument pits his version of events against William's version, which was corroborated by video evidence. Baskin's case-in-chief consisted of Baskin's own testimony which was largely unintelligible, with the coherent portions of his testimony being illogical. Baskin testified to his participation in the sale with the following narrative.

[Korbin] called me on the 15th. He knowing me by my voice, how I talk, that I'm over there doing something, getting high. He's steadily calling me and saying like he want, telling me, he's thinking I've got something. He can tell by my voice. He's thinking I've got some more. Come on, Sell me some, like that right there.

I'm steady telling him no all the time; because I'm telling him if my want to sell some drugs, he would hurry up and get off the phone; Yeah, I can go get you some; but I'm steady telling him without me knowing. He's steady talking. I'm telling him no.

That's why he said, I might be by and all that stuff. He just pops up over there; and during that time, I was getting high off powder cocaine. That's why I was sniffing my nose.

When Kobrin come over there, Kobrin come in the house. He said, Oh, you're getting high. You know what I'm saying. He come over and said, Let me make this deal; and I'm high; so I ain't got nothing to do with hit. That's why he didn't bring the informant in my house when he first came there.

He askd me did I have change for a hundred dollars. I said, No, I don't think I got about \$50. He told me, I need to borrow \$50. I don't know what kind of sell or what he was fixing to sell or what he was doing. He was doing that. He done been to my house all the time. We got high together right there in my house. You know what I'm saying.

His dealing, I didn't know have nothing to do with it. He did that dealing; and he told me to let him have the \$50; so when the boy pulled out the hundred dollar bill, that's why I said, I'll go get change. I give him the 50, Kobrin; and I give Kobrin the hundred dollars as he went outside. I'm already high. That's why I was asking for a cigarette at the end of the film.

I give him the 100. He's supposed to be bringing the money back that he borrowed, 50 for keeping him and the informant and the girl from going back to the store. That's why I decided to give him change. He's supposed to bring my money back. I probably got it back in time from November to whenever they came and got me. I wasn't worried about the money. I know he wasn't going to do right for that day.

#### T. 174-75.

Baskin argues on appeal, as he did at trial, that he only loaned Korbin \$50, and Korbin was the one who sold William the drugs. Korbin, according to Baskin, just pretended that he had no drugs, came to Baskin's house to sell the drugs, tricked William into thinking that Baskin was the seller, and then borrowed \$50 from Baskin to make change which was given to William by Baskin. William, on the other hand, testified that Korbin had no drugs to sell, which was why Korbin arranged a buy from Baskin. T. 138. William testified that Korbin called someone named "Skip" for the crack, and upon arriving at Baskin's home, Baskin identified himself as Skip. T. 141, Exhibit 1 at approx. 42:48. William further testified that upon arrival, the crack was already packaged and sitting on Baskin's kitchen counter. T. 143. He paid Baskin for the drugs with a \$100 bill, and Baskin made change for him. T. 138, 143, 158.

The jury clearly found William and his version of events to be more credible than Baskin and his version of events. The jury exercised its exclusive right to determine the facts of the case. Because the verdict is not against the weight of the evidence and represents no unconscionable injustice, Baskin's conviction must be affirmed.

#### III. BASKIN'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS WAS PROPERLY DENIED.

Baskin claims that the trial court erred in denying his motion to suppress the video of the transaction because he was denied the opportunity to cross-examine Korbin. Baskin claims that this case is similar to *Clark v. State*, 891 So. 2d 136 (Miss. 2003). In *Clark*, Clark's accomplice refused to testify, and his prior statement to police in which he implicated Clark in an armed robbery was entered into evidence. *Id.* at 138 (¶6). The supreme court held that the admission of the accomplice's statement was erroneously admitted into evidence because it was clearly testimonial hearsay. *Id.* at 140 (¶16). However, the court went on to hold that the error was harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence of Clark's guilt. *Id.* at 143 (¶32). The present case is easily distinguishable from *Clark*. Although the video does contain Korbin's side of mostly inaudible telephone calls, no statement made by Korbin on the video constitutes testimonial hearsay.

The case of *Brown v. State*, 969 So. 2d 855 (Miss. 2007) is instructive. In *Brown*, a C.I. set up a controlled buy of narcotics from Elmer "Little Fudge" Armstrong. *Id.* at 857 (¶2). Armstrong placed the C.I. on a three-way call with two unidentified males to set up the purchase. *Id.* Later that day, the C.I. placed a call to the two unidentified men, and an agreement was made to meet at a Wal-Mart parking lot to complete the transaction. *Id.* at 858 (¶3). The phone call was recorded by law enforcement. *Id.* Two hours later, Derrick Brown and Derrick Black arrived at the Wal-Mart parking lot and sold the C.I. crack cocaine. *Id.* at (¶4). On appeal, this honorable Court reversed Brown's conviction, finding that the audiotape of the C.I.'s recorded telephone conversation prior to the sale was inadmissible hearsay which irreparably prejudiced Brown. *Id.* at 859 (¶¶8-9). On a petition for certiorari, the supreme court reversed, finding that the tape was not offered to show Brown's participation in the sale, but was instead offered to corroborate the testimony of the C.I. and law enforcement officers involved in the undercover buy. *Id.* at 861 (¶17). The *Brown* court also

explained why the tape did not contain hearsay statements.

The audiotape was not offered to show that Brown was involved in the pre-arrangement conversations, nor could it have been. A careful review of every word and sentence on the audiotape reveals no statement which the State needed to prove as true. The tape contains such utterances as, "Ain't got but two left" ... "I want it hard man" ... "Yeah. I'm with my bride but I'm going to be walking out where I can see you man." The State had no need to prove these statements, or any of the other statements on the audiotape, were true. Thus, the statements were not hearsay, and the trial court properly overruled Brown's hearsay object.

Id.

In the case *sub judice*, Baskin claims that he was impermissibly denied the right to cross-examine Korbin. However, as in *Brown*, the State did not offer the video to prove the truth of any statement made by Korbin in the video. Instead, the State offered the video simply to corroborate William's and Fowler's testimony. As such, the video did not contain hearsay, much less testimonial hearsay. Accordingly, Baskin was not denied his Sixth Amendment right to confront a witness against him.

#### **CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, the State asks this honorable Court to affirm Baskin's conviction and sentence.